IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC.,

Appellants,

vs.

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case Flectronically Filed Apr 14 2022 10:00 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLENT'S OPENING BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL COURT

Robert Kern, Esq. Nevada State Bar No.10104 KERN LAW Ltd. 601 S. 6th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Tele: 702-518-4529 Fax: 702-825-5872 Email: Robert@Kernlawoffices.com Admin@Kernlawoffices.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLEMENT MUNEY; CHEF EXEC SUPPLIERS, LLC.,

Supreme Court Case No: 83641, 83869

Appellants,

NRAP Rule 26.1 Disclosure

vs.

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD,

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal arises from two orders of the Eighth Judicial District Court, in and for Clark County, State of Nevada, the Honorable Nancy Allf, Presiding. The first order was entered on the 13th day of September, 2021, (Appx, p.0823). That order was a grant of summary judgment on all claims and defenses in the case. The order is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1) as a final order resolving all matters.

The second order was entered on the 16th day of November, 2021, (Appx, p.0935). That order granted a motion for attorney's fees. The order is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(8) as a special order after final judgment.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

As an appeal arising from Business Court, it would be presumably routed to the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(9).

III.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. COULD THE REPORT OF A LIMITED-PURPOSE RECEIVER, FOR WHICH NO BRIEFING WAS ORDERED OR TESTIMONY TAKEN, WHO WAS ORDERED TO MAKE A REPORT ON THE VIABILITY OF THE COMPANY, BE DEEMED A FULL ADJUDICATION IN FAVOR OF ALL PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, ALLOWING NO EVIDENCE IN OPPOSITION BY DEFENDANT?

- 2. WAS THE FACT THAT CES WAS AN LLC WITHOUT AN OPERATING AGREEMENT, BY ITSELF, DISPOSITIVE OF THE QUESTION OF WHETHER A FIDUCIARY OR SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP COULD EXIST BETWEEN ARNOULD AND MUNEY?
- DID THE DEFENDANTS' FAILURE TO FILE THEIR
 COUNTERCLAIMS AS DERIVATIVE CLAIMS, MEAN THAT
 BOTH THE DEFENDANT MEMBER AND THE DEFENDANT
 COMPANY WERE PRECLUDED FROM PLEADING
 COUNTERCLAIMS THAT AFFECTED DEFENDANT
 COMPANY'S PRE-DISSOLUTION RIGHTS, AND
 DEFENDANT MEMBER'S POST DISSOLUTION RIGHTS?
 DOES A NON-MONETARY JUDGMENT AGAINST
- 4. DOES A NON-MONETARY JUDGMENT AGAINST MERITORIOUS CLAIMS JUSTIFY AN AWARD OF FEES UNDER NRS 18.010(2)?

- 5. DID THE COURT ERR BY MAKING A SEPARATE AWARD OF FEES PURSUANT TO NRS 86.489, ON AN ACTION FOR JUDICIAL DISSOLUTION AND APPOINTMENT OF A RECEIVER WHERE THE COMPANY DID NOT WIN ANY MONEY JUDGMENT IN THE ACTION?
- 6. IS A MEMBER FILING SUIT TO DISSOLVE HIS COMPANY ENTITLED TO ATTORNEYS FEES OF NEARLY \$200,000 INCLUDING WORK ON UNRELATED LITIGATIONS, AND SIGNIFICANT WORK OUTSIDE THE LODESTAR STANDARD OF REASONABILITY?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes as a consolidated appeal from a District Court grant of summary judgment on all claims and defenses, and a post-judgment order granting a motion for attorneys fees.

On October 11, 2019, Respondent Dominique Arnould (hereinafter, "Arnould"), filed a complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court for Dissolution, Appointment of a Receiver, and Breach of Fiduciary Duty, against Appellants Clement Muney (hereinafter, "Muney") and Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (hereinafter, "CES", or the "Company"). (See Complaint, Appendix p.0001). Defendants/Appellants Muney and CES filed an answer and counterclaims on November 7, 2019. On June 8, 2020, the Court entered an Order appointing a Receiver with limited powers. (Rec'r Order, Appx.p.0289). On August 21, 2020, the Court entered an order to dissolve the Company, effective September 30. (Diss Order, Appx.p.0340). On December 7, 2020 the Receiver filed his final report, including recommendations for division of Company assets. (Rec'r Report, Appx.p.0363). On January 29, 2021, Muney filed a timely objection to the Receiver's Report, including documentary exhibits detailing the issues with the report's conclusions and methods. (Obj to RR, Appx.p.0575). The Court accepted the Report and the Objections after hearing. On June 14, 2021 Arnould filed a motion for summary judgment on all claims. (MSJ, Appx.p.0656). The motion was heard in a hearing on July 29, 2021, and was granted by the Court in its entirety. (MSJ Tran, Appx.p.0803). Thereafter Arnould filed a motion for attorney's fees on September 28, 2021, which was heard on November 16, 2021. (Fees Mtn, Appx.p.0851). The Court granted the motion in its entirety with no deductions or adjustments. (Fees Order, Appx.p.0823). Appellants timely appealed the grant of summary judgment and the grant of attorneys fees, and those appeals were consolidated by order of the Supreme Court.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Arnould and Defendant Muney were long-time friends and 50-50 owners of Defendant Company Chef Exec Suppliers, LLC (CES), which was a distributor of foodservice supplies. The Company consisted of two largely autonomous branches, one in Los Angeles run by Arnould, and one in Las Vegas run by Muney. In 2019, Arnould sought to retire and be bought out of his share, however the parties disagreed on the value of his share. (2019 MSJ, Appx.p.0058). When the lease for the Las Vegas warehouse required both owners to sign for the renewal, Arnould refused to sign, and suggested in two separate writings, that Muney sign the lease with a separate company Muney owned solely, and sub-lease to CES. Muney did so, binding his company with a lease, and rented the warehouse to CES at a rate that he was advised by his real estate agent was fair market price

for those terms. (2019 MSJ, Appx.p.0029,0037,0053). Thereafter Arnould filed suit, arguing that Muney's charging above cost on the sub-lease was a breach of fiduciary duty, and demanding an accounting, a judicial dissolution of the company and appointment of a Receiver. (Complaint, Appx.p.0001). Muney filed an answer and counterclaims alleging that Arnould had converted Company funds and property to his own use and possession, and had used his position as bookkeeper to give himself and his separately owned companies benefits, at CES's cost. (Answer, Appx.p.0006). Muney filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking dismissal of Arnould's claims, on the basis that there was no duty owed between members of an LLC, and no breach regardless, as well as that the circumstances could not justify such an extreme remedy as a judicial dissolution of a stillprofitable company. (2019 MSJ, Appx.p.0018). At the same time, Arnould filed a motion for trustee, seeking to have himself named as trustee for the company, and thus be in 100% control of the company. (Trustee Mtn, Appx.p.0060). The Motion for Summary Judgment was denied, with the Court holding that determination of whether there were duties owed between Muney and Arnould required determinations of fact; the Motion for Trustee was taken off calendar by Arnould. (2019 MSJ Order, Appx.p.0131).

On February 7, 2020, the parties attended a court-ordered settlement conference, at which settlement of all claims and all essential terms was reached,

and was entered into the minutes. Despite the settlement agreement of all claims, while Muney waited for Arnould to secure financing to complete the settlement, on March 13, 2020, Arnould filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking dissolution of the Company and appointment of a Receiver, only thereafter declaring that he was unable to find financing to complete the settlement; Muney responded with a motion to enforce settlement agreement, which was eventually scheduled to be heard on June 24, 2020. (Mtn to Enforce, Appx.p.0135). On May 20, 2020, Muney, after discovering that Arnould had started depositing all Company funds into a new account he had opened, that only he had access to, filed an application for a Temporary Restraining Order and a Motion for Preliminary Injunction, which was heard in a noticed hearing on May 22, 2020. At the May 22 hearing, the Court denied Muney's motion, stating that it was not an actual emergency. Unexpectedly, without notice to either party or taking argument, the Court also decided to grant the motion for appointment of a receiver, and deny the motion to enforce settlement agreement, which were scheduled to be heard on June 24, over a month afterward. The denial of the motion to enforce was based upon the Court taking judicial notice of Arnould's unsupported argument that the Covid pandemic had made acquiring financing impossible. (5-22 Trans, Appx.p.0259). Also at that hearing the Court ordered appointment of a limited-purpose receiver, who was empowered only to supervise company operations, and prepare a report

about the viability of the company. (Rec'r Order, Appx.p.0289). Just over two weeks later, on June 10, 2020, Arnould filed an emergency motion for appointment of receiver, and a preliminary injunction, seeking a hearing the same day. Arnould claimed that he had, without notice to Muney, driven to the Las Vegas warehouse, and found it locked, and wanted entry. Neither Muney nor his counsel were informed that Arnould was driving to Las Vegas prior to the filing of the emergency motion, and no other explanation of the emergency nature of the motion was provided. Muney's counsel was unable to attend, explaining that he had oral argument before the Nevada Supreme Court the following day, and had scheduled a moot argument with an entire panel of appellate lawyers during the time that Arnould wished to hold the hearing. The Court nonetheless scheduled the hearing, and sanctioned Muney's counsel for not appearing¹. At the following hearing two days later, the Court granted Arnould's emergency motion, not addressing the argument that the issue was not an emergency at all, and ordered that Muney grant Arnould full access to the Vegas warehouse, despite Muney having no access to the LA warehouse². (6-12 Trans, Appx.p.0297). In selecting the Receiver, the Court

This is the subject of a current writ application to the Supreme Court, case 83636

² Muney had alleged that since the beginning of litigation, Arnould had repeatedly taken inventory belonging to the Las Vegas branch without permission, outside

chose the sole receiver proposed by Arnould, over Muney's objection.

On August 12, 2020, upon Arnould's motion, the Court held a hearing on final dissolution of the Company. Despite his previous opposition, Muney consented, as operation of the company without the Court imposing any limitations on Arnould's actions had become impossible. At the hearing Muney raised the issue that the Receiver had been including the legally-contested issue of Las Vegas warehouse rent in his report, and the Court ordered the Receiver, over the Receiver's objection, not to include those amounts, as the responsibility for those amounts was a legal determination that would not be resolved until trial of the issue. (8-12 Trans, Diss Order, Appx.p.0318, 0340). On August 21, 2020 the Court entered an order of dissolution of the Company, which became Effective on September 30, 2020. (Diss Order, Appx.p.0340).

On December 7, 2020 the Receiver filed his final report, including recommendations for division of Company assets, which also included assigning the disputed Las Vegas rents, despite the Court ordering otherwise. (Rec'r Report, Appx.p.0363). On January 29, 2021, Muney filed a timely objection to the Receiver's Report, including documentary exhibits detailing the issues with the report's conclusions and methods. The objections included making a determination

of the regular method for the rare transfers of inventory between branches. Thus he wished to keep the locks so that Arnould would not be able to continue to take inventory without notice. (6-12 Trans, Appx.p.0297).

on the Las Vegas rents, despite such being outside the assigned scope, and requiring legal and factual determinations outside the Receiver's expertise, acceptance of Arnould's allegations of improper spending without bringing them to Muney to address them, the decision to only consider nine months of data, rather than the entire relationship, thus excluding most of Muney's claims against Arnould, and the decision to believe Arnould's testimony over his warehouse manager 's testimony regarding Arnould's improper use of the LA warehouse. (Obj to RR, Appx.p.0575). The Court accepted the Report and the Objections after hearing.

In fall 2020, Muney had properly served Arnould with discovery requests, which, after extensions, Arnould responded to on December 7. Due to a large number of non-responses from inappropriate objections, a meet and confer was held on February 12, 2021. At the meet and confer Arnould's counsel agreed to fully supplement the deficient responses. When counsel for Muney requested status on the supplemental responses (on April 12, 2021), and provided an email with the requested clarified wording on April 14, 2021, Arnould's counsel responded (on April 16) that he would require the wording of the requests to be amended prior to providing the agreed-upon supplementation ("please amend for clarity the following requests and we will subsequently amend our responses in pleading form"). This email from Arnould was written less than 30 days prior to the close of

discovery, set for May 14. Prior to the discovery deadline, counsel for Muney responded by emailing restated wording of the requests to assuage Arnould's concerns. Arnould had only requested changed wording on two of the twelve requests for production, however Muney assumed Arnould was waiting to provide all supplements at the same time. As Arnould had promised to supplement once he received the clarified wording, Muney waited for the supplemental responses to be provided. After hearing nothing from Arnould, Muney inquired on June 23 when the supplemental responses would be provided. At that time, Arnould's counsel stated that since the requests were not received more than 30 days prior to the close of discovery (despite their promise to supplement occurring less than 30 days before the close of discovery), that Arnould no longer had a duty to supplement. (Mtn Compel, Appx.p.0722). On the day before the expiration of discovery, Arnould named the Receiver as an expert witness. (Exp.Decl., Appx.p.0653).

On June 14, 2021 Arnould filed a motion for summary judgment on all claims, arguing 1) that the previous year's issuance of an order of dissolution constituted success on a derivative claim, and thus claimed costs and fees under NRS 86.489, 2) That the Receiver's Report constituted an accounting, of all claims and amounts, and thus the Court should simply adopt it as a judgment because the Receiver was an expert, and Muney could not dispute any of it because he had not retained an expert, 3) that his claim for breach of fiduciary duty was already

covered, as the Receiver's Report awarded Arnould all amounts claimed for that, 4) that all of Muney's counterclaims must be dismissed for lack of standing, since they belonged to CES, 5) that Muney's counterclaims for Breach of fiduciary duty and for fraud failed because there was no duty owed between Muney and Arnould, and 6) that most of Muney's counterclaims also failed because the Receiver was an expert, and thus without an expert, Muney could not present evidence against his conclusions. (MSJ, Appx.p.0656). Muney fully opposed the arguments in a written opposition. (MSJ Opp, Appx.p.0699). At hearing, the Court held that Arnould prevailed on all claims because Muney could not dispute Arnould's expert, and all of Muney's claims failed for lack of evidence for the same reason. The Court further held that Arnould had prevailed derivatively by dissolving the Company, and that he was thus entitled to costs and fees. Arnould received \$6,303.93 as a capital distribution, and no money damages. (MSJ Trans, Fees Order, Appx.p.0803, 0823).

After the hearing, Arnould subpoenaed Muney's counsel for his entire client file, as he argued that it would provide support for the reasonability of any future motion for fees that he might file; Muney's counsel filed an immediate motion for protective order against such disclosure. (Mtn Prot Order, Appx.p.0182). Thereafter Arnould filed a motion for attorney's fees on September 28, 2021, seeking \$199,985.00 in fees, which included two months of pre-litigation billing,

billing on a copyright dispute with a different party, almost daily calls and conferences with Arnould over two years, as well as a vast amount of other charges. (Fees Mtn, Fees Opp, Appx.p.0851, 0894). At hearing, the Court granted the motion in its entirety, declining to reduce the amount in any way, even the portions from other litigations. (Fees Order, Appx.p0823). The motion for protective order was rendered moot by the motion for fees being granted in full prior to a hearing on the protective order. Muney appealed both the grant of summary judgment, and the Order granting fees, which were consolidated into the present appeal.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This matter was initially brought with only one claim of wrongdoing; that after Arnould refused to sign a new lease, and twice advised Muney to just sign the lease with a separate company and sub-lease to CES (as evidenced in two emails), Muney did as suggested, and charged CES the fair market rate for the rent, rather than renting it at cost, despite having had to bind himself personally to a lease while having no enforceable lease with CES. This claim was never briefed, argued, nor had evidence taken, yet the entire case has now been litigated, finding against Muney in every count, despite no actual findings of wrongdoing.

The Court granted summary judgment in Arnould's favor on all claims and

defenses, primarily based on the fact that Arnould named the Receiver his expert the day before discovery closed, and then claimed that Muney could not dispute an expert with a non-expert, and claimed that this meant the case was essentially over. This ignored the fact that the Receiver was appointed as a limited-power, limitedpurpose receiver, solely authorized to supervise operation of the Company, and make a report on the viability of the Company. The Receiver was never authorized to adjudicate any claims, never accepted any briefing on any legal issues, and was specifically ordered by the Court not to make any determinations on the Las Vegas Warehouse rent issue. Despite this, the Receiver's Report explicitly claimed to adjudicate the Las Vegas warehouse rent issue, awarding the entirety to Arnould, as well as electing to only consider allegations between the parties for disputed expenses from the previous nine months, which excluded almost all Muney's claims against Arnould.

Muney was entitled to challenge the Receiver's methods, the information the Receiver relied upon, the fact that the Receiver elected not to include determination of most of Muney's claims, and most importantly the fact that the largest determination was one the Receiver was directly ordered not to make. The Court's determination that Muney could not maintain any defense or counterclaim, simply because Arnould named the Receiver as an expert, was without any legal or logical basis. Granting summary judgment on all claims and defenses solely based

on the blanket assumption that Muney could not challenge the expert on anything at all, and that the expert's report was somehow dispositive of all issues, was likewise without basis.

The Court erred further, by holding that Arnould's year-old judgment dissolving the company was somehow a derivative action, and entitled Arnould to a grant of costs and fees, with the application coming almost a year after the judgment. An application for fees is required to be filed within 21 days of the judgment, and the action that both bankrupted and dissolved the company, could not in any way be held to be an action done for the company's benefit.

Arnould's motion for fees had no basis in law. The sole judgment was explicitly a capital adjustment, and thus not a monetary judgment for purposes of NRS 18.010(2)(a). Further, the fact that Muney's claims and defenses did not require a competing expert, did not automatically make all of Muney's claims and defenses frivolous, and thus justify fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b). Even if an award of fees had been justified and authorized by statute, Arnould's bad faith inclusion of large amounts of improper billing, billing for other matters, and billing for costs, should have been rejected.

VII. ARGUMENT

I.

COULD THE REPORT OF A LIMITED-PURPOSE RECEIVER, FOR WHICH NO BRIEFING WAS ORDERED OR TESTIMONY TAKEN, WHO WAS ORDERED TO MAKE A REPORT ON THE VIABILITY OF THE COMPANY, BE DEEMED A FULL ADJUDICATION IN FAVOR OF ALL PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, ALLOWING NO EVIDENCE IN OPPOSITION BY DEFENDANT?

a. Standard of Review

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