#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLEMENT MUNEY, Case No.: 83641

Consolidated with Case No.: 83869 Electronically Filed

Appellant, Jun

Jun 15 2022 11:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

DOMINIQUE ARNOULD, Appeal fro

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, The Honorable Judge Nancy Allf

Presiding.

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

#### Marquis Aurbach Chtd.

Phillip S. Aurbach, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 1501 Alexander K. Calaway, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 15188 10001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 382-0711

Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 paurbach@maclaw.com acalaway@maclaw.com Attorneys for Respondent

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

b. Summary Judgment was Proper with Respect to Mr. Arnould's Second Cause of Action for Accounting and the District Court did Not Improperly Shift the Burden.

Mr. Muney's argument that Mr. Arnould failed to establish his accounting claim ignores facts and misconstrues the law. As a threshold issue, Mr. Muney's argument that Mr. Arnould's accounting was "without evidence or allegation" is patently false. 85 Mr. Arnould clearly established his claim for accounting through

<sup>85</sup> Appellant's Brief, at pg. 17.

<sup>84 8</sup> AA 823-850

the undisputed accounting of the Receiver. <sup>86</sup> As noted above, NRCP 56(c) establishes the procedures for supporting factual positions on summary judgment.

In this case, Mr. Muney's motion for summary judgment cited to, among other things, "particular parts of materials in the record, . . . documents, electronically stored information, affidavits [and] declarations, stipulations . . . [and] other materials[.]" Mr. Arnould's motion for summary judgment even expressly incorporated by reference "all of the factual findings, analysis, and exhibits in the Final Report as if fully stated herein pursuant to law and NRS 52.275(1)."87 Not only was the Final Report on the record, it also contained documents, electronically stored information (e.g. the CES QuickBooks), sworn statements, and a myriad of other accounting materials. 88 And again, Mr. Muney produced no admissible evidence to dispute these materials. Mr. Arnould agrees that the Receiver's Final Report was not final adjudication, however, it was undisputed by Mr. Muney because he failed dispute any of the accounting evidence presented by the Receiver

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> 3 AA 363-374, 3 AA 375-412, 4 AA 413-462, 5 AA 463-534, 6 AA 535-563.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> 7 AA 659.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> 3 AA 363-374, 3 AA 375-412, 4 AA 413-462, 5 AA 463-534, 6 AA 535-563.

in his Final Report.<sup>89</sup> In oral argument, Mr. Muney's counsel further admitted that Mr. Muney had no expert to rebut the Receiver's accounting.<sup>90</sup>

Further, Mr. Arnould was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on his accounting claim. An equitable accounting "is a restitutionary remedy based upon avoiding unjust enrichment." See D. Dobbs, Remedies § 4.3 at 415 (1973). Nevada courts have long recognized the action of an equitable accounting. Botsford v. Van Riper, 33 Nev. 158, 110 P. 705 (1910); Young v. Johnny Ribiero Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990); Oracle USA, Inc. v. Rimini Street, Inc., No. 2:10-CV-00106-LRH-PAL, 2010 WL 3257933 (D. Nov. Aug. 13, 2010); Mobius Connections Group, Inc. v. Techskills, LLC, No. 2:10-CV-01678-GMN-RJJ, 2012 WL 194434 (D. Nev. Jan. 23, 2012). Courts generally define an action for an accounting as "a proceeding in equity for the purpose of obtaining a judicial settlement of the accounts of the parties in which proceeding the court will adjudicate the amount due, administer full relief and render complete justice." Verdier v. Superior Court, 88 Cal.App.2d 527, 530, 199 P.2d 325 (Cal.1948); Teselle v. McLoughlin, 173 Cal. App. 4th 158, 92 Cal. Rptr. 3d 696 (Cal. App. 2009); NRS 86.5419 (providing for

<sup>89 3</sup> AA 363-374

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> 7 AA 0816-817.

an accounting performed by a receiver over a Nevada limited liability company). Finally, a prevailing party in an accounting claim may receive a judgment. *See e.g.*, *Botsford*, 33 Nev. 156, 110 P. at 709 (upholding a lower court's judgment in favor of plaintiffs shares of the capital stock and cash dividends of \$6,000).

In his appellate brief, Mr. Muney argues for the first time that Mr. Arnould had to establish some wrongdoing as a prerequisite to a claim for accounting. <sup>91</sup> This issue was not raised by in the District Court and is deemed waived on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown,* 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). And even if this Court were to consider Mr. Muney's novel argument, it still fails. Notably, the only support Mr. Muney provided for this legal assertion is *Foster v. Arata*, 74 Nev. 143, 154, 325 P.2d 759, 764 (1958), which was abrogated by *Guzman v. Johnson*, 137 Nev. 126, 483 P.3d 531 (2021). Thus, *Foster* no longer good law.

Moreover, *Foster* is easily distinguished here. The issue in *Foster* was whether stockholders were entitled to an interlocutory order for an accounting – not a final order based upon evidence presented as was the case here. *Foster*, 74 Nev. at 154, 325 P.2d at 764. In this case, the District Court properly considered the

<sup>91</sup> Appellant Brief, at pg. 15.

undisputed accounting evidence produced by the Receiver in his Final Report.<sup>92</sup> Accordingly, Mr. Muney's reliance on *Foster* is misguided at best.

Similarly, Mr. Muney's argument that he was not "in possession of property belonging to Arnould" is factually incorrect. <sup>93</sup> The Receiver's accounting was prepared by "reviewing the books and records of the Company, and in consultation with Arnould and Partner in order to prepare an accounting and Adjusted Financial Statements that are proper and just." <sup>94</sup> In other words, the Receiver's accounting adjusted the CES financials to reflect property unjustly possessed by both partners (e.g., allocation of physical inventory assets, cash, funds for rent, funds for vehicle expenses, etc.). <sup>95</sup> Notably, Mr. Muney does not (and cannot) dispute that this accounting performed by the Receiver was complex, detailed, and supported my substantial financial documentation. <sup>96</sup> Instead, Mr. Muney's argument simply ignores all of the facts and evidence within Receiver's massive Final Report, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> See 8 AA 837-838.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Appellant Brief, at p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> 3 AA 365-366.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> 6 AA 0559.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Appellant Brief, at pgs. 14-18.

for perspective, spans four (4) volumes of the appellant's appendix.<sup>97</sup> Perhaps Mr. Muney's ability to ignore basic facts in this case explains why he felt no need to oppose summary judgment below.

## c. Mr. Muney's Objection to the Receiver's Report is Not Admissible Evidence.

In his appellant brief, Mr. Muney argues for the first time that his objections to the Receiver's Report were an admissible accounting of CES. 98 Once again, this issue was not raised in the District Court and is deemed waived on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc.* 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983. But even if the Court considered Mr. Muney's novel argument, the argument still fails legally and factually.

First, Mr. Muney erroneously argues that the District Court did not make admissibility determinations.<sup>99</sup> In reality, the District Court expressly addressed the admissibility issues with Mr. Muney's objection to the Receiver's Final Report.<sup>100</sup> As noted above, NRCP 56(c)(4) requires a party opposing a summary judgment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> 3 AA 363-374, 3 AA 375-412, 4 AA 413-462, 5 AA 463-534, 6 AA 535-563.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Appellant Brief, at pgs. 18-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> *Id.* at p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> 8 AA 839-840.

motion to "set out facts that would be *admissible* in evidence, and show that the affiant or declarant is *competent* to testify on the matters stated." (Emphasis added).

Here, the District Court correctly found that "[w]hile Mr. Muney objected to the Receiver's accounting, his objections are not admissible evidence at trial." <sup>101</sup> The District Court also correctly found that "[e]ach of the issues Mr. Muney raised in his written objection on the record require specialized and technical knowledge in accounting, which are subjects reserved for experts pursuant to NRS 50.275." <sup>102</sup> In other words, neither Mr. Muney nor his attorney were competent to testify as to these accounting issues.

Moreover, while it is conceivable that Mr. Muney's designated experts may have been competent to testify at trial, Mr. Muney failed to produce or disclose any expert report as required under NRCP 16.1(a)(2). *Sanders v. Sears-Page*, 131 Nev. 500, 517, 354 P.3d 201, 212 (Nev. App. 2015) (citing NRCP 16.1(a)(2)). The policy underlying NRCP 16.1 "serves to place all parties on an even playing field and to prevent trial by ambush or unfair surprise." *Id.*; *see also Roberts v. Libby*, 132 Nev. 1023 (Nev. App. 2016). In this case, the District Court correctly found that "Mr.

<sup>101</sup> *Id*.

<sup>102</sup> *Id*.

Muney failed to produce an expert report or any other admissible accounting of profits for CES."<sup>103</sup> Accordingly, the District Court correctly found that "to present expert testimony, the proffering party must provide a written disclosure of their experts and the contents of those experts' testimonies, including the information each expert considered in forming an opinion, well in advance of trial."<sup>104</sup> No expert report meant no expert testimony, and to be sure, Mr. Muney's counsel conceded on the record that he and his client were "not planning to have an expert for the accounting itself."<sup>105</sup>

Second, Mr. Muney incorrectly argues in his appellate brief that that he was "not entitled to present evidence or arguments to dispute any of the Receiver's conclusions." <sup>106</sup> This argument is patently false. Here, the District Court only declined to consider evidence and facts that were not presented by Mr. Muney. As set forth above, Mr. Muney failed to cite to any fact that would support his "list of

<sup>103</sup> *Id*.

<sup>104</sup> *Id*.

<sup>105</sup> 7 AA 817.

<sup>106</sup> Appellant Brief, at pgs. 17, 19-20.

determinations of disputed fact" included in his opposition. As set forth below, each of the facts he claimed to be in dispute were (a) unsupported by any admissible evidence; (b) only supported by argument of counsel; and/or (c) required the District Court to consider undisclosed expert testimony.

For instance, Mr. Muney failed to produce any facts to dispute the Receiver's allocation of the Las Vegas warehouse rent. Mr. Muney argued in his opposition that there was a factual dispute as to whether rent was "reasonable in that market" but failed to provide any admissible fact as to what a "reasonable" market rate might have been at the time. This issue would require a witness with specialized and technical knowledge in real estate prices or the market for commercial rent in Las Vegas, Nevada (*c.f.* NRS 50.275). Yet, Mr. Muney failed to disclose any expert opinions and was thus precluded from proffering such evidence at trial. *Sanders*, 131 Nev. at 517, 354 P.3d at 212 (citing NRCP 16.1(a)(2)). In another example, Mr. Muney vaguely argued in his opposition to the motion for summary judgment that some "disputed amounts" charged by Mr. Muney and Mr. Arnould raised factual

<sup>107</sup> RA 49-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> RA 49-60.

questions.<sup>109</sup> But again, Mr. Muney failed to (1) cite to any amount actually in dispute, and (2) failed to cite to any fact that might support his conclusory statement that "charges" were improper.

Finally, Mr. Muney vaguely argues in his appellate brief that he "will not detail every issue in dispute, but will note that there are other issues disputed, which are all contained in Muney's objection to the Receiver's Report." This vague argument is fitting since it is strikingly similar to the vague argument that Mr. Muney used in his defective opposition to summary judgment. But the argument fails here just as it failed below. The standard for summary judgment under NRCP 56 does not allow litigants to proceed to trial with nothing but "gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation, and conjecture[.]" *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 732, 121 P.3d at 1031 (internal quotations omitted). Since Mr. Muney failed to produce any material fact, the District Court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Mr. Arnould.

<sup>109</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Appellant's Brief, at pg. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> *C.f.* RA 49-60.

d. The District Court did not "Exclude Evidence" and Only Declined to Consider Mr. Muney's Undisclosed Expert Testimony.

Mr. Muney argues in his appellant brief that the District Court "excluded evidence" that would have established an issue of material fact for each claim and defense. In this case, the District Court did not did not "exclude" any evidence in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Summary Judgment. In reality, the District Court correctly found that both Mr. Muney's opposition, as well as his objection to the Receiver's Final report, contained "no expert testimony in support, no declaration/affidavit in support, and no authenticated documentary evidence." Thus, there was no evidence presented by Mr. Muney for the District Court to exclude.

Moreover, the only thing that the District Court declined to consider on summary judgment was undisclosed testimony of Mr. Muney's expert witnesses.

The District Court explained in its findings that:

Because Mr. Muney failed to produce an expert report, he is barred from attempting to proffer expert testimony at trial. Since Mr. Muney cannot present expert testimony at trial, the Final Report and Receiver's accounting of profits are undisputed. The amounts due under the Receiver's accounting were also partially stipulated to on or about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> 8 AA 823-850.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> 8 AA 823-850.

February 26, 2021, since Mr. Muney and Mr. Arnould each stipulated and agreed to pay \$22,712.56 to the Receiver to close out the receivership estate and thereafter, accepted their respective distributions of CES's assets.<sup>114</sup>

To be sure, the District Court's refusal to consider undisclosed expert testimony was proper. *Sanders*, 131 Nev. at 517, 354 P.3d at 212 (citing NRCP 16.1(a)(2)). In any event, Mr. Muney's counsel conceded on the record that he and his client did not even intend to present an expert at trial for the accounting.<sup>115</sup>

## e. Each of the "Additional Matters" Raised by Mr. Muney in his Appellate Brief Lack Merit.

In his brief, Mr. Muney lists a number of "Additional Matters" challenging the District Court's order granting summary judgment. <sup>116</sup> Mr. Arnould will address each of these issues in turn.

First, Mr. Muney incorrectly argues that documents need not be authenticated in a motion for summary judgment. Conversely, NRCP 56(c)(4) requires that "an affidavit or declaration used to support or oppose a motion must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be admissible in evidence, and show that the

<sup>115</sup> 7 AA 817.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> 8 AA 839.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Appellant's Brief, at pgs. 26-29.

affiant or declarant is competent to testify on the matters stated." Similarly, Eighth Judicial District Court Rule ("EDCR") 2.21(a) provides that "[f]actual contentions involved in any pretrial or post-trial motion must be initially presented and heard upon affidavits, unsworn declarations under penalty of perjury, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file." In this case, Mr. Muney did not include *any* affidavit or declaration in support of his opposition. Nor did he cite to any affidavit or declaration on the record. 118

Second, Mr. Arnould did not engage in any discovery "abuses," and even if discovery disputes existed, the District Court properly found the disputes to have been waived. A motion to compel, absent unusual circumstances, should be filed before the scheduled date for dispositive motions. See e.g. Gault v. Nabisco Biscuit Co., 184 F.R.D. 620, 622 (D. Nev. 1999); see e.g. Thurston v. City of North Las Vegas, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96619, 2011 WL 3841110 (D. Nev. 2011); see e.g. Hall v. Schumacher, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 108896, 2011 WL 4458845 (D. Nev.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> RA 49-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> 8 AA 846.

2011).<sup>120</sup> In this case, the District Court correctly found that "Mr. Muney's Motion to Compel was brought well after the close of discovery and after dispositive motions."<sup>121</sup> As such, the District Court correctly ruled that "Mr. Muney's Motion to Compel was untimely and is therefore denied."<sup>122</sup>

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